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FOREWORD

Research into matters connected with our maritime heritage is one of the tasks under​taken by the Maritime Institute of Ireland.  On the fiftieth anniversary of the 1916 Rising, the Council of the Institute is pleased to be able to publish the results of one such study undertaken and carried out by the Honorary Research Officer of the Institute, Dr John de Courcy Ireland.  It is hoped that it may be found a useful source book for those studying the events of the Rising or writing the history of our people.

The Council of the Institute wishes to place on record its grateful appreciation of the generosity of Irish Shipping Ltd who have guaranteed the cost of publication.  With​out this public-spirited gesture on their part, it might not have been possible to make available to the public at this time the information contained herein.









Antoine Ó Leathlobhair









    (Col. A.T. Lawlor)

President, the Maritime Institute of Ireland
Chapter I

INTRODUCTION
“An té go mbíonn long aige, gheibheann sé cóir uair éigin” 

Ireland and the Sea

Since its foundation twenty-five years ago, the Maritime Institute of Ireland has never ceased its efforts to develop in our people an interest in maritime affairs.  The Instit​ute is convinced that such an interest is of very great importance for us as an island people.  The Institute has pointed out that this is very desirable, not only to the social and economic progress of the Nation, but also to enable us to make a worthy national contribution to humanity’s struggle, in the generations immediately ahead, to feed itself, house itself and provide a fuller life for itself in a world which, however quickly changing, is and will always remain some seventy-two per cent salt water
.

To see the importance of the sea for our national future is to see also how it has in​fluenced our past.  Our island position has been a dominant factor in every develop​ment, cultural or economic, spiritual or political or social, in our history.  This is as true of the events of Easter 1916 as of any other great Irish movement, though the fact is not yet clearly grasped by the majority of our fellow countrymen, any more than it was, indeed, by many of the leading participants in those events.

Historical conditions and foreign government and influence conspired for centuries to try to turn Ireland into – as Dr Lyons, now Provost
 of T.C.D., wrote in the Irish Times of 6th March 1965 – a nation of “landlubbers”.  The wonder is not so much that they nearly succeeded, but that they did not quite.  Ireland has, in every generation since the Tudor conquest, produced large numbers of highly competent and many very great seamen; but inevitably they served under foreign flags.  The collective national consciousness of an Irish maritime tradition that was flourishing long before Christ​ians set foot here, and was nourished to till greater achievement by them when they did, slowly died.  Yet in every generation, also, there was a dwindling minority of Irish​men in Ireland itself who saw that there would be no prosperity – in the end perhaps no nation – without a restoration of that consciousness and that tradition.

Hugh O’Neill saw it; so did a few of the Kilkenny Confederates; Swift was explicit about it; Grattan had a vision of it; Tone knew it from hard experience, and the ’98 rebels in Wexford actually armed a flotilla of oyster boats to guard their coast; the Fenians commissioned the arms ship Erin’s Hope
, and Griffith had a clear con​cept​ion of the potential value to the country of sea fisheries and up-to-date harbours.

The 1916 period differed sharply from those of England’s previous great wars.  In 1916, there was no important body of Irishmen serving in the fleets opposing the English, as there had been in the Spanish fleets of Philip II and Philip III and the fleets of France under Louis XIV, Louis XV, Louis XVI, the First Republic, and Napoléon I.  This was partly due to the way the country’s history developed in the nineteenth century, partly because the 1914 War was, whatever the propagandists have tried to make of it, essentially a clash of empires and not a war also of ideo​logies, in which Irish patriots would quickly feel and doggedly maintain a sense of personal involvement.  Indeed, some of the very few patriots of the 1914-21 period who understood something of the sea’s importance to Ireland, including Erskine Childers senior (whose yacht had brought in the guns used during the Rising), and more than one justly honoured patriot still living, preferred the Allied to the German version of what the war was about.

These considerations help also to explain why, at a time when the fate of empires depended more than ever before on their navies, that of Britain, contrary to the state of affairs in the 1790s, had no serious fears of mutiny among the thousands of Irish​men serving in its ranks.  Mutinies in the Russian Navy in 1917, by Yugoslav and Czech seamen in the Imperial Austro-Hungarian Navy in February 1918, and in the Imperial German Navy in November 1918
 were decisive factors in destroying those empires, just as the mutinies at Spithead and the Nore
, and in individual ships else​where, strongly supported by Irish seamen influenced by the ideas of the United Irish​men, had seriously threatened the British Empire in its war with revolutionary France.

Among the small number of patriots who held considered theories at the time of the Rising about Ireland’s maritime needs were Darrel Figgis, himself an amateur sea​man, author of The Freedom of the Seas, a rare pamphlet, a copy of which the Mari​time Institute recently received from an Irishman (ex-petty officer, R.N.), and Roger Casement, who wrote at length on the same subject.  Among the leaders of the In​sur​rection, there was a natural desire to enlist German naval help, particularly as it was seen that the powerful German navy was capable of an energetic challenge to Allied control of the sea.  This desire was fostered by Casement, who indeed be​lieved German naval assistance to be an indispensable ingredient in the whole idea of a Rising.  Exactly and practically what was entailed was not clearly under​stood by the leaders of the Rising.

Consciousness of a national maritime tradition was nearly dead here by 1916.  It is significant that there were no Irish Marine Volunteers, no Irish Citizen Marine.  It is significant that the story of the last, and ultimately victorious, phase of resistance to British occupation in this part of Ireland contains no stirring chapter on the improvis​ation of naval resistance forces, as is to be found in the story of the resistance move​ments against Spain in Argentina and Ecuador (led incidentally by Irish admirals Brown and Wright) early in the last century, or against Germany in, for in​stance, France and Yugoslavia in the Second World War.  The leaders of the Easter Rising had no plans for any immediate Irish maritime action, but they did ex​pect German naval help essentially in three ways:–

they asked for a cargo of arms
to be delivered by the German Navy on the Kerry coast;

they asked for a German naval demonstration
to be made against the English coast;

they asked for a U-boat or U-boats to be sent up the River Liffey.

This third request, natural to landsmen in view of the growing reputation for success​ful daring of the German submarine service, is an indication of how little the Re​publican leaders were able to appreciate naval realities.  It was turned down by the German authorities because it was too hazardous and there were far too few U-boats available.

The German Admiralty acceded to the second request, because it happened to co​incide with the wish of the commander-in-chief, Admiral Reinhard Scheer
, ap​pointed only in February 1916 to undertake longer and more frequent sorties from German North Sea bases, in the hope of catching, unawares or otherwise, and severely de​feat​ing an inferior British force.  He had already led such a sortie on March 5th / 6th.  It is doubtful if our leaders can have expected much more than a boost for the In​surgents’ morale from the action they requested.  An account of the April sortie ap​pears in Chapter IV
.  The Germans also complied with the first request.  True, the arms were not for the most part the most suitable, nor were they in numbers as great as the Irish leaders wanted.  They did, however, arrive, and how they did, how and why they were not landed, and what happened to the ship carrying them, takes up much of the rest of this booklet.

Chapter II

THE VOYAGE OF THE LIBAU (AUD)


Wir sprachen von Sturm und Schiffbruch,



Vom Seemann, und wie er lebt,



Und zwischen Himmel und Wasser



Und Angst und Freude schwebt.











Heine

The vessel which has usually been called the Aud by Irish historians dealing with the events of Easter week 1916 was, in fact, the Libau.  She was a vessel of 1228 gross registered tons, built in 1911 by Earle of Hull, a shipyard which is now defunct.  She was sailing on a normal commercial voyage as the Wilson liner Castro when she was detained by the German naval authorities in the Kiel Canal on the outbreak of the Great War.  Before her voyage with arms to Ireland in April 1916, the German author​ities decided to disguise her as the Norwegian vessel Aud, a steamer of 1102 gross registered tons, registered in Bergen, where she had been built in 1907
.  A photo​graph of the Libau taken when she was sailing as the Castro, a photocopy of the sur​veyor’s report of 11.5.1911 to the British Corporation for the Survey and Registry of Shipping on the construction of S.S. Castro, yard No. 574, including pro​file, a photocopy of the real Aud ’s general arrangement plan, and a naval archi​tect’s suggested reconstruction of Castro as pseudo-Aud, all of which are in the possess​ion of the Maritime Institute, show that the task of disguising the Libau as the Aud was not too difficult.

On the 30th March 1916, Leutnant zur See der Reserve
 Karl Spindler was posted from the German North Sea naval base of Wilhelmshaven, where he commanded a half-flotilla of patrol boats, to Hamburg to take command of the Libau.  Before the war he had been an officer with the Norddeutscher Lloyd shipping company, Bremen.  Spindler brought the ship back through the Kiel Canal to Lübeck, where she was disguised to represent the Aud.

On the 9th April, Spindler sailed the Libau from Lübeck to Warnemünde
.  By now he had the arms on board and was well provided with faked papers and material to suggest that his ship was on a normal trading run from Scandinavia to the Medi​terranean.

On the 10th April, the ship weighed anchor with the transformation complete and left German waters for the Sound
.  Spindler had some difficult moments at the south​ern end of the Sound.
  These are described on pages 52-56 of his book, The Mystery of the Casement Ship.  By 9 p.m. he was off Elsinore
 where the Sound is narrowest.  To gain time and to avoid British patrols, he disregarded the British Ad​miralty injunct​ion to neutrals to sail within ten miles of the Scandinavian coast
 when emerging from the Sound.  Instead, he set a course to take him midway be​tween Læsø
 and Göte​borg
.  The risk proved to have been worth taking, as he saw no patrols on that day.

Early on the 11th April, the wind fell and haze formed in the Skagerrak
 (as it did seven weeks later during the Battle of Jutland).  Spindler stood in to the Swedish coast to verify his position by shore bearings and get an exact departure.  North of Paternoster Island
 he altered course to steam for the North Sea down the middle of the Skagerrak.  The fog was thick at 3 p.m. when, north of Skagen
, the northern​most point of Denmark, he turned south-west.  The fog cleared at 9 p.m.  Before mid​night, the Libau was due south of Lindesnes
, the southernmost point of Nor​way, and altered course to north-west.  Spindler was determined for the next few days never to be nearer than twenty-four hours’ steaming (at 11 knots) to Kirkwall
, Orkney, the British blockade control base.  He reckoned that if a British cruiser put a prize crew aboard to take the Libau to Kirkwall for examination, twenty-four hours would give him time to dispose of them.

It rained on the night of the 11th/12th April but cleared on the 12th and stayed fine till evening, when two hours’ rain was followed by fog.  From midnight, Spindler steered on a northerly course to pass between Norway and the British blockade line, which was strung out north-west/south-east about sixty miles east of Shetland.  He sighted a British warship seventy-five miles east of Shetland but with the help of a light bank of mist avoided her.  He had now passed the Shetland-Norway blockade but still had to pass through the British Tenth Cruiser Squadron (all armed liners) patrolling be​tween Shetland and Iceland.  He ran in to the Norwegian coast, obtained his longi​tude by a sounding on the 100-fathom line and his latitude by a lucky lifting of fog which give him a good view of the Bremangerland mountains
 in western Nor​way.  He set a course from there to a point 66°30' north latitude, 0° longitude, well to the north-east
 of Faeroe.

13th and 14th April were beautiful days.  At 4 p.m. on the 14th April, Spindler was on the edge of the Arctic Circle.  Seeing no ice, he concluded that the ice sheet north of Iceland had not yet broken up, so that it would be impossible to make for Ireland through Denmark Strait
; but the clearness of the weather and the approach of full moon
 meant that it would also be risky to try running between Iceland and Shet​land.  The Libau, therefore, was hove to for a period.  Spindler believed that he had two days to play with.

Actually he had five, but he did not know of a last-minute change made by our people in the date of his expected arrival.  When Spindler sailed from Warnemünde on the 10th April, his expected time of arrival in Tralee Bay was 20th April.  The Rising was expected on the 23rd April, and Philomena Plunkett had been dis​patched to Washington to get the Irish leaders there to transmit to Germany, via the German Embassy, the request that the Libau should delay her arrival until after the start of the Rising.  Philomena Plunkett did not reach Washington until the 14th April.  The German naval authorities had refused to equip the Libau with radio, and therefore there was nothing the Germans could do to prevent her from proceeding as originally planned.

The Libau was hove to from 4 p.m. on the 14th April to 10 a.m. on the 15th April.  Whilst hove to on the 14th April, during continued flat calm
 but with the barometer falling sharply, a waterspout five yards in diameter at sea level, tapering then broad​en​ing again, swept at great speed close by the ship.

By the morning of the 15th April, the barometer had taken another dive, and at a point 66°30'N 1°W (the current had caused him to drift through 1 degree of longi​tude) puffs of wind were coming from north then west then south-west, and clouds were piling up to the westward.  By 10 a.m. there was mist, and the Libau moved off at half speed on a south-west course.  By midday the wind was force 3
.

By 4 a.m. on the 16th April the wind was force 4
, freshening with sea rising, mist and occasional heavy showers.  Spindler now aimed to pass through the blockade line one hundred and fifty miles to the south-west at 8 p.m. (the hour for changing watch) on Palm Sunday, 16th April.  By 4 p.m. visibility was only a mile, by 6 p.m. only a few hundred yards.  The wind was force 5
, rising to 6
 by 7.30 p.m. when the Libau had her first encounter with a British armed liner, probably the Orcoma, whose log gives her 8 p.m. position 64°35'N, 11°54'W.  This ship’s log records but gives no reason for an increase in speed following change of course at 6 p.m. (which would have been 7 p.m. for Spindler on Central European Time).  As there are vital omiss​ions in the logs of some British warships concerned in this narrative, notably in H.M.S. Adventure’s for the decisive days when she was lying in Dún Laoghaire harbour retaining liaison by radio between Whitehall and the British military here, it is conceivable that the Orcoma was under orders to identify the Libau and let her pass once identified.  The extent of the British Admiralty’s knowledge of the Libau’s miss​ion is further examined later in this chapter.  A note in the Public Record Office, London, among papers dealing with Irish Coastal Command, 1916-18, makes it quite clear that well before the Rising began in Dublin, the Admiralty not only knew that an armed ship had left Germany for Fenit but was aware that she was a captured Wilson liner and was aware of the arrangements made in Fenit for contacting her off that port.

After steering S by W for four hours, Spindler turned W at 11 p.m.  By midnight the wind was approaching gale force
, and by midday on April 17th, with the glass still drop​ping, the Libau was steaming through a full gale
 coming from north-west.  Un​able now for two days to make an astronomical observation to check his position, and anxious to make an accurate landfall near Tralee Bay, Spindler says he set course for the Rockall Bank
.  By 8 p.m., amid squalls of hail, the wind had passed force 10
.  The British Meteorological Office has been able to provide independent evidence of the velocity of this gale with reports from ships a few dozen miles south-east of the Libau on the 17th April – “8 a.m. wind north, force 10.  Heavy rain squalls.  Sea pheno​menal, precipitous, waves towering, thirty-six feet
 and above.  8 p.m. wind force 9 still north, squally, sea similar.”

Throughout the 18th April, the Libau battled with the hurricane and narrowly missed going on Rockall Bank.  Spindler greatly feared that his cargo would shift.  He had approached Rockall from westward, avoided the Bank by turning NNE, and at 5.30 p.m., no longer in soundings, he altered course to SSE.  The survival of the Libau is a tribute alike to her German crew and her British builders.

By nightfall on the 18th April the wind, now NNW, had fallen.  During the night, the Libau had her second close encounter with a British auxiliary cruiser which the Mari​time Institute at first, from Spindler’s description, identified as H.M.S. Otway.  Her log, just released for inspection by the British Public Records Office, shows her to have been further north.  It may have been the Oropesa, then manned by the French Navy as the Champagne, or the Orotava.  It is just possible that when the logs of these come to hand more may be learnt.  The British vessel steamed alongside the Libau, but no prize crew was put on board.

On the 19th April, the barometer shot up.  The sun shone brilliantly and there was a light north-west breeze.  Thursday 20th April dawned fresh clear and still, with a regular north-west swell.  On board the Libau preparations were made for the anti​cipated discharge of the arms cargo that night.  Spindler gives his noon position as 52°N, 11°W, about forty-five miles from the entrance to Tralee Bay.

Spindler’s account of the voyage of the Libau up to noon on Thursday 20th April 1916 seems correct where it can be verified.  However, in describing the events from noon on the 20th April, it is interspersed with dubious and contradictory state​ments which are not corroborated by the other evidence available.  If Spindler’s noon position, 52°N 11°W, is accurate or even approximately accurate, he ap​proached the rendezvous with U-19 a mile north-west of Inishtooskert
 from the south-west.  Spind​ler, in his book The Mystery of the Casement Ship, at page 213, accepts the state​ment made by Monteith in Casement’s Last Adventure that the Libau had been sighted from U-19 on the 20th April.  The evidence suggests that this could not be true.  Spindler says that at 3 p.m. he was trying to identify the cliffs and rocks of the north shore of the Dingle Peninsula and was sailing close in, repeating the adage “steep shore, deep water”.  A copy of the log of the U-19 in the hands of the Maritime Institute indicates that the submarine, approaching Tralee Bay from a northerly direction, which would be normal for a ship arriving from the North Atlantic, was more than one hundred miles away.  At 3 p.m. U-19 was sailing at 13 knots on a course of 180° (due south) and had Achill Head
 thirty miles on her port beam.

Spindler says he made full speed, 11 knots
, when steaming in from his noon posit​ion.  If this is so, Spindler should have had Smerwick
 abeam between 2 o’clock and 2.15 p.m. on the 20th April.  He found himself at one stage (exact time not given) “off the area between Ballydavid and Brandon”, searching with the help of chart and sailing directions for the entrance of Tralee Bay.  He “held on”, and a quarter of an hour later “picked up the Three Sisters as three hills in Smerwick Harbour are known”.  If he really was off Ballydavid Head
 and keeping a course towards Tralee Bay, he would already have passed Smerwick more than twenty minutes earlier, and by the time he was off Brandon Head
, Smerwick would have been left behind quite three quarters of an hour before.

Careful study of the Kerry coast leads one to the conclusion that it must have been Kerry Head
 which Spindler mistook for the Three Sisters
.  It has three peaks on it.  This conclusion is strengthened by Spindler’s description of the way in which, while off his Three Sisters, he mistook Loop Head lighthouse for the pilot cutter which he was expecting.  From off Smerwick, twenty-seven miles away, this seems out of the question, but if at 3.30 he was abeam of Kerry Head, Loop Head
 would have been within nine miles and easily visible as he describes it.  At 12 knots, he would have been abeam of Kerry Head by 3.30.  At 11 knots, he would have been somewhat south-west of it but he would have been able to see Loop Head clearly.

Spindler says that the Libau was at the rendezvous one mile north-west of the Seven Hogs
 at 4.15 (on page 216 he gives the time as 4 o’clock).  If this is so, he must have realised his previous mistake off Kerry Head and reversed his course.  It is not quite clear whether the times given by Spindler for April 20th and 21st are GMT or Central European Time, one hour ahead.  Spindler says he switched to GMT
 on 20th April.  The official German account of the operation, given to the Maritime In​stitute in a letter from Kapitän zur See
 Bidlingmaier of the Militärgeschichtliches Forschungs​amt
, places the arrival of the Libau in Ballyheige Bay at 5 p.m.  The Irish pilot, Mort O’ Leary, says he saw a ship that seems to have been Spindler’s about a mile north-east of the Seven Hogs on the evening of 20th April and again next morning, steam​ing westward from Kerry Head.  As he expected the arms ship on the 23rd April, he took no action to identify the ship he saw, a fact that Spindler found odd.  True, our people were now acting according to their own arrangement, without confirmation that the Germans had fallen in with it; even so, maritime-minded people in Fenit might have been expected to become curious about a strange ship hanging around Tralee Bay, and, remembering how far away Germany was and that a war was on, to have tried to satisfy their curiosity.

Whether Spindler anchored at 4 o’clock, 4.15, or 5 p.m., and whether he anchored north-east of the Seven Hogs as O’Leary says or north-west of them as his instruct​ions required and as he says, he certainly was not there at 11.10 p.m. on 20th April when U-19 came straight in from abeam of Loop Head to the rendezvous, nor was he there between 11.10 p.m. on the 20th April and 1.20 a.m. on the 21st April when, after dropping Casement and his companions, the U-19 set course out of Ballyheige Bay.  It is clear also that the Libau was not at the rendezvous between 1.20 and about 3 a.m. on the 21st April.  Captain Weisbach writes that the U-19 was search​ing for the Libau on a clear moonlight night just where she was supposed to be, a mile outside the entrance to the Bay, for several hours.  The log of the U-19 indicates that the search cannot have been much under two hours and it may have been nearly three.  Spindler’s testimony can be shown to be inaccurate on many points when he is dealing with events subsequent to noon on the 20th April.  Weis​bach’s testimony, on the other hand, is supported by the entries in the log of the U-19.  Capt​ain Weis​bach’s navigation can be proved to have been so accurate that there seems to be no question of his having had U-19 anywhere but where he says she was.  He is sure Spindler’s navigation was bad (letter of the 10th December 1965 to the Mari​time Institute) and even doubts whether Spindler was in Tralee Bay at all (letter dated 28th January 1966).  That U-19 kept the sharpest possible look-out is not to be doubted; the German submarine service was equal in efficiency in 1916 to the most efficient branch of any navy then afloat, and Weisbach’s own record in sur​viving all the accumulating hazards of submarine warfare until the 1st May 1917, when, after torpedoing a tanker, S.S. San Urbano
, his new command U-81 was itself torpedoed by the British E-54 about one hundred and twenty miles west of Fastnet
, indicates that he was a man who did keep a sharp look-out and expected his crew to do so.

Spindler says that he approached Fenit during the night of 20th/21st April.  It is most unlikely that he really came within six hundred yards of Fenit Pier, though he might possibly have come within a mile.  If he had come within six hundred yards of Fenit Pier
 he would have been right up against Samphire Island lighthouse
, a promin​ent feature which he does not mention.  He certainly did not “feel his way along the cliffs”, for there are none, to the “anchorage” (Ankerplatz) off Inishtooskert (Seven Hogs), for it is not an anchorage
.  Still less can his anchor have “rattled down” at 1.30 a.m., or Weisbach, who was in the vicinity at the time, would have heard and seen him.

By midnight on the 20th April, Spindler must have been a tired, confused, and dis​appointed man.  He had accomplished a difficult voyage, parts of which on 10th/11th April, 15th/18th April and most of the 20th April were thoroughly nerve-wracking.  He had failed to attract any attention from the shore, though persistently showing the signals arranged.  In a letter written to Fred Schmitz, signalman of the Libau, nearly twenty years later – a letter pathetically high-flown in its language and nostalgic in tone – Spindler bitterly accuses the Irish of preventing him and his crew from changing world history by “failing” at the decisive moment.

Local Fenit tradition has it that the signals were seen and reported to those con​cerned as blue and consequently were ignored because the agreed signal was green.  Spindler says he did show green.  It is suggested that blue and green lights might easily be confused.

It is hard to resist the conclusion that Spindler spent a good many hours of the night of the 20th/21st April south of a line Fenit–Fahamore
, possibly just north of Augha​casla Point
, near Castlegregory, where there is an anchorage.  He was seen in day​light by several people.  They say he was rather north of this but was certainly east of the Seven Hogs.  If he was anchored just north of Aughacasla Point, he would have been some 7½ miles from where he was supposed to rendezvous with the U-boat; and Weisbach in the U-19 would have been unable to see him when the U-19 was hove to one mile north-west of Inishtooskert or when the submarine was sub​sequently manoeuvring to get Casement ashore.  Spindler maintains that he was at the rendezvous at 1.30 a.m. on the 21st April and suggests that Weisbach was unable to see him because the shadow of Inishtooskert hid him from the U-19.  Weis​bach dismisses this as untenable and appears justified in doing so.  Anyway, as we have seen, if the Libau had been moving around Tralee Bay as and when Spind​ler says on an admittedly bright night, U-19 must have seen or at least heard her.

All the Libau’s encounters with British naval craft have an element of mystery about them.  It is essential to note that Captain Bidlingmaier, in the aforementioned letter to the Maritime Institute, makes it clear that in the official German naval view the British Tenth Cruiser Squadron had probably known all about the Libau and had had in​struct​ions to let her pass while reporting her movements so long as she was in their area.  This would explain the curious behaviour of the armed liners mentioned on page 12 and page 13.  The German official view is confirmed by the ascertainable fact that British naval intelligence was exceptionally well informed.  The departure of Casement from Germany in a submarine was undoubtedly known on the 13th April (Hoy
, 40 O.B. or how the war was won, inter alia); the departure of the raider S.M.S.
 Greif in February, along a route similar to Spindler’s, had been known at once in White​hall (Marder, Professor of History, University of California, From the Dread​nought to Scapa Flow, volume II page 372).
  R.M. Grant of the University of Chicago, in his recent full-length study U-boats destroyed, quotes with approval the verdict of the U.S. naval historian H.M. Frost, that in 1916 British naval intelligence was “little short of miraculous”; Spindler himself says (page 101) that while he was in Tralee Bay the German Admiralty had become convinced that the British knew all and tried to recall S.M.S. Libau by a message to U-boats in Irish waters; we know anyway that by the 18th April the British knew as a result of information supplied from Washington, follow​ing a raid on a German diplomat’s office; Colonel Dan Bryan, our own Director of Military Intelligence during the last war, has expressed an opinion that the British knew about the Libau voyage from the start.  Captain Weisbach is also sure that the British were cognisant of the whole venture.  An Admiralty note is extant, showing that by 23rd April it was even known in London that U-19 and U-20 were the German sub​marines involved in the venture (U-20’s mishap was apparently not known).  Of course, the British Admiralty did not necessarily always think fit or important to tell the British officials governing this country what it knew; though Admiral Bayly, British Naval C.-in-C. at the time at Queenstown Base, Haulbowline, writes on page 206 of his reminiscences Pull together that “other Government de​part​ments” refused to take seriously naval intelligence’s hints of coming trouble in Ireland and, on page 202, states that he knew in advance (unfortunately he gives no date) of the Libau’s de​part​ure and expected arrival on our coast.

Why then did the British allow Spindler to reach the Kerry coast?  The answer can only be conjectural.  The most likely answer seems to put the British Government of the time in the most machiavellian light.  Diarmuid Lynch in The I.R.A. and the 1916 insurrection argues tellingly that all the “blundering” (he disliked this term) which led to the loss of the Libau’s cargo and the consequent serious impairment of the military effectiveness of the Rising, was a godsend in that it preserved the purity of the Dublin movement and gave it the sacrificial quality which in the end captured the imagination of the Irish people and most of the world.  Conversely, it would greatly have suited British propaganda to have had a comparatively insignificant quantity of comparatively poor-quality arms landed by Germans from a German ship as positive “proof” that the Germans were running the whole affair.  However, when the locals failed to act, the British Navy had to.  Between 4 (or 5) p.m. on the 20th April and 5 a.m. on the 21st April there had been plenty of time for all sorts of people, including the sentry Spindler claims to have seen at Fenit, to warn the naval authorities (it must be noted that Fenit people are categorical that there were no military or marines in Fenit before Easter).  H.M.S. Setter’s entry on the scene is no surprise, and indeed, if Spindler is to be believed, her crew knew that a gun-running ship was expected, though the naval librarian for the British Ministry of Defence, in a letter of the 8th July 1965 to the Maritime Institute, disagrees with the statement alleged to have been made by some of Setter’s crew that she had been transferred to the west coast of Ireland from Aberdeen specially to join the hunt for the Libau.  The Institute is still trying to trace her commander and the commander of her consort, H.M.S. Lord Heneage, or any of their crews.

Early on the 21st April, Spindler had his encounter with H.M.S. Setter II, an armed trawler which he first took to be the long-awaited pilot cutter as she rounded Kerry Head.  A confidential report just released to the public from the British Admiralty archives makes it clear that this vessel was sent to investigate a supposed Dutch ship which had been seen flashing lights at 10.40 p.m. on the 20th April.  Admiral Bayly says he first heard news of the suspicious vessel from the signal station at Loop Head.  The implication is that this must have been in the afternoon or early even​ing of the 20th April.  Loop Head’s report of a steamer acting suspiciously and apparently identified as Dutch, together with the local report of the flashing light, were quite enough to ensure that the British naval authorities would now take some action, particularly since, as seems probable, they were already aware of the depart​ure from Germany of a gun-runner bound for Ireland and very likely also that she had already passed through the Tenth Cruiser Squadron area.

Curiously, neither Admiral Bayly, Commander at Haulbowline, nor the captain’s log of H.M.S. Zinnia, nor the account of the Libau’s adventures in Irish waters written for the Maritime Institute by her signalman, mention the Setter’s party boarding the Libau, of which Spindler makes so much in his book.  Nobody at Fenit saw, or re​members hearing that anyone else, now living or departed, saw the incident.  There is, however, bare mention of some kind of encounter in the confidential report al​luded to above, and a summary of a report from Lieutenant Bee of H.M.S. Lord Heneage in the Irish Coastal Command archives indicates that the Setter’s com​mander, having been ordered to take a suspicious Dutch ship, had patently failed to act when this turned out, apparently, to be a “harmless Norwegian”.  Hitherto, we have had only Spindler’s account of his clash with Setter.  It has been shown that Spindler’s testimony is not always reliable; he can often be shown to have been in​accurate in describing later episodes.  As Raimund Weisbach writes (28th January 1965), his book is “wohl etwas romanhaft geschrieben” (really rather romantically written
) – and Weisbach has no memory of meeting Spindler, and recalls writing him only one letter in contradiction to what Spindler says in his last chapter.

Spindler claims to have made complete fools of Setter’s crew, and Irishmen have felt a natural impulse to believe this.  He may be right.  Meanwhile, the Maritime Institute, as a result of a query in the Liverpool maritime journal Sea Breezes, has received another account, purporting to report the impressions of some of the Setter’s crew.  This seems to be neither more nor less worthy of credence than Spindler’s account.  The anonymous writer of this account has apparently mistaken the Lord Heneage, which came up later, for the Setter.  According to it, Spindler was in a great state of nerves, and was cleverly covered by his quick-witted second-in-command.  Accord​ing to Spindler, Setter, after this encounter, steered “for the mouth of the Bay” and started an anti-submarine patrol five miles offshore.  Of course, if Spindler was anchored where he says he was, Setter never needed to enter Tralee Bay, and the importance of anti-submarine patrolling is emphasised by the fact that that very after​noon, U-19 sank a cargo ship some seventy miles away.

Where was the Libau when the Setter encountered her?  The Admiralty confidential report, already twice referred to, declares that men reported a steamer at 9 a.m., asserted to be the one that had signalled the previous night, between the Maharee (or Hog) Islands.  Fenit people, as previously stated, are quite definite that she was well to the east of them, still just inside Tralee Bay.  O’Leary says he saw her steam​ing westward from Kerry Head.  The riddle of what exactly took place is made more obscure by the fact that now that the logs of all H.M. ships involved in these events have just been released, those of the Setter and of the ship which next plagued Spind​ler, the Lord Heneage, are found to have disappeared.  This could be sheer care​lessness, or it could be something more.  It seems fairly obvious that if any officer, probably by oversight, entered anything in any document which Intelligence concluded ought never to see the light of day, it would disappear (nor would such a thing happen only in Britain), but it is open to doubt whether there is likely to have been anything particularly sinister or revealing in the missing documents.

The Libau was at anchor, it would seem, during most or all of the morning of the 21st April; if, as O’Leary says, she was for a while under way, this can only have been from Tralee Bay to Brandon Bay, where one confidential British report places her, thus indirectly confirming him.  During the morning, the R.I.C. came into possession of U-19’s boat and various articles listed in the Admiralty confidential report, which, incidentally, states that the District Inspector, R.I.C., at Tralee was strongly suspici​ous already that the person his men had arrested was Casement.

The British authorities, at this stage, believed that the boat and the three men known to have landed from her came from the suspicious ship near the Hog Islands – the Libau.  H.M.S. Lord Heneage, based on Galway, was summoned southward.  Soon after 1 p.m. Spindler sighted the Lord Heneage, an armed trawler like the Setter
 which appeared to him to be a much more powerful ship.  She rounded Kerry Head.  He weighed anchor, which would take ten/fifteen minutes, in about sixteen fathoms if he was a mile north-west of Inishtooskert
, and a series of events followed, of which his description justifies Weisbach’s “romanhaft”.  In his book, Spindler speaks of man​oeuvring in Tralee Bay (chapter 17) and he speaks of leaving Tralee Bay only in chapter 18.  If the chase started off Inishtooskert, be was not in Tralee Bay even at the start of the episode.  He also writes of sailing “within forty yards” of the “rocky shore”.  This must have been off Brandon Head.  Spindler says “the second mate worked the engine-room telegraph” during the chase.  This is somewhat difficult to understand, as he also claims that the Libau was making more than thirteen knots.  If so, the telegraph must surely have been jammed down to “full ahead” throughout the incident.

In the German edition of his book, Das geheimnisvolle Schiff, shore batteries, of which at the time there were none, seem to have worried Spindler more than the Lord Heneage, but the English version here, as elsewhere, though a reasonably good translation, omits passages.  Spindler’s picture of his approach to the mouth of what he calls “the Bay” appears to be a somewhat fanciful picture of what he saw as he passed the Blaskets with Tralee Bay far astern.  The island which he describes as “Dunmore Island” is presumably Inishtearaght
.  He must have been here between 4 and 5 p.m.  The Zinnia’s captain’s log first mentions the Libau with an entry that at 4.30 p.m. a signal came from the Lord Heneage that a suspicious vessel was in sight west of Inishtearaght, steering SW.  Some thirty miles away, U-19 was torpedoing a black-funnelled cargo ship
.  But for their interest in the Libau the British patrol ships might have prevented this.

So far Spindler, however “romanhaft” his account of what actually occurred, must have felt he had reason to congratulate himself.  Certainly, the Setter and Lord Heneage had not stopped him, though one is inclined to think that from the moment Spindler weighed anchor in the early afternoon, the British officer directing the oper​ation had the situation completely in hand; and it is clear from the confidential report, and from the accounts given by the Zinnia’s captain’s log and by Admiral Bayly, that the Lord Heneage successfully shadowed the Libau all the afternoon.

Leaving the Blaskets astern, Spindler was steering a south-westerly course into the Atlantic where, he says, he proposed to start commerce-raiding operations.  Towards 6 p.m. he noticed smoke to the south-west, which was soon disclosed as coming from a warship.  Spindler’s failure to identify British sloops shakes faith in other as​sertions he makes.  H.M.S. Bluebell and H.M.S. Zinnia, which now came up, were described by Spindler as converted cross-Channel steamers, “Hilfskreuzer”
.  He writes of Bluebell that she was “einer von den schnellen Kanaldampfern” (one of the fast Channel steamers).  He says that this ship came up at more than twenty knots (seventeen knots was her maximum) and speaks of her “10.5 Zentimeter und M.G. Bestückung” (four-inch and machine-gun armament), when in point of fact she had two twelve-pounder (3?) and two three-pounder guns (the English version of his book is here a mistranslation).  A photograph of H.M.S. Laburnum, one of these “Flower class” sloops, is printed in this book.  Her resemblance to a cross-Channel steamer will be seen to be remote.

U-19 had seen a fast-moving two-funnelled ship closing the coast at about 3.30 p.m.  Examination of her log shows this may well have been H.M.S. Zinnia.

Spindler makes the best of his eventual rounding-up by what he calls “a whole swarm” of warships.  Dorothy McArdle
 says there were twenty nine.  Admiral Bayly at Cobh, as a result of Intelligence report about an endeavour to land arms, had re​ceived as reinforcements the destroyers Ossory, Nicator, Onslow, and Morning Star and the famous cruiser Gloucester.  So far as can be ascertained, the actual round​ing-up operation involved the first two destroyers named, which were only briefly on the scene after 9 p.m. on the 21st April when the Libau was following the Bluebell to Cobh under orders, the sloops Bluebell and Zinnia, and the trawler Lord Heneage.  This ship resumed normal patrol further north once the sloops had contacted the Libau, which, it will be recalled, she had been shadowing.  This was, even so, a con​siderable diminution of British forces badly needed at the height of a brief U-boat campaign against merchant shipping, begun on 1st April and called off on 24th April because of protests from the U.S.A. over the torpedoing of the cross-Channel steamer Sussex by U-20 on 24th March before the German Admiralty had even author​ised the campaign.  Evidence of how desperately short of ships the British were comes from the log of Captain G.F.W. Wilson, D.S.O., R.N., then commanding H.M.S. Zinnia, for April 1916.  Wilson detached the Bluebell to escort the Libau because she was due to coal, and himself returned to anti-submarine patrol.

Zinnia sighted the Libau at 5.45, Bluebell a few minutes later.  She was steering SSW at 12½ knots, a good knot above her normal maximum speed, about eighteen miles west of Skellig Rock
.  At 6.15 Spindler was ordered to stop, and at 6.45 to steam under escort to Cobh.  A signal recorded on board the Zinnia during the run to intercept the Libau confirms that Admiral Bayly at Haulbowline knew by now that Spindler’s ship was sailing under the name Aud and was probably the ex​pected gun-runner.  Spindler did his best to delay the inevitable, stopping at 8.20 with alleged engine trouble, but resuming his voyage at 8.30 when the Bluebell fired a shot across his bows.  Between 6.45 p.m. on 21st April and 9.28 a.m. on 22nd April, the precise moment, according to the British warship’s log, when the Libau was scuttled, a distance of not much more than one hundred miles was covered in nearly fifteen hours.  This vindicates Spindler’s claim that he deliberately delayed his enemy, and the Maritime Institute has a letter from Bantry quoting an eyewitness then serv​ing on Fastnet
 Rock (passed at 3 a.m.) of the extreme slowness of the pass​age of the captured ship and her escort.

Spindler’s suggestion that the British thought he was laying mines cannot be taken very seriously, but a curious fact emerges from the newly opened British Admiralty archives, where a then top secret document shows the silhouette of an armed decoy ship which the British believed to be operating with U-boats in the Western Ap​proaches at this time.  Probably no such vessel, in fact, existed, but fears that she might have and that Spindler’s ship might have been her, could explain any anxiety on board the Bluebell.

Spindler’s allegation that he identified the crackles of the British warship’s radio while he was in motion and the nearest of them was more than one hundred and fifty yards away is no easier to accept than the “white chalk cliffs” of County Cork which he de​clares he saw next morning.

He may well have tried to induce the Bluebell to send over a boarding party, but he could hardly blame the British commander, Lieutenant Martin Hood, for not doing so.  Spindler says the British press gave rough weather as the reason for Bluebell’s not doing so, and asserts himself that there was a flat calm.  The British Meteorological Office, asked to reconstruct the conditions off the south-west coast of Ireland on the evening of 21st April without knowing the reason for the request, stated that it is reasonably sure that “the wind in this area had blown from about NE or NNE at force 4 over the open sea during the previous twenty-four hours”, so that “waves of 5-6 feet in height at fairly frequent intervals” could be expected, with “possibly some swell from a general W or SW direction also entering the area”.  The Bluebell’s log records all the evening a westerly swell with a breeze strengthening from force 1-2
 at 8 p.m. to force 3-4 at midnight.  It was not, therefore, in all likelihood a flat calm, and even if it had been, Hood would have had nothing to gain from putting a boarding party at Spindler’s mercy in the Libau.

Spindler’s story of his scuttling of his ship at 9.28 a.m. on 22nd April (a very correct action, very efficiently carried out) must also be read with reservations.  According to his story, his ship was sunk just about one hundred metres from Daunt Rock light vessel which, he infers (page 128
), was in a different position then from when he wrote later.  The Commissioners of Irish Lights are categorical that the light vessel has always been on the same position, and Mr J. Scanlan, a crew member of the light vessel in 1918, whose brother was in her at the time of the scuttling and often spoke to him of the event, tells us in a letter (13th November 1965) that the event took place 1½–2 miles SSE of the vessel.  Diver John Dempsey of Ringaskiddy said at the Casement trial that he found the wreck about 1¼ miles SSE of the vessel.  Hoy says she was scuttled 1½ miles SSE of it.  Admiral Bayly gives the position precisely as S 56 E
, 7 cables from the lightship (letter of 24th April 1916 to the Admiralty).  The Maritime Institute is informed by the British Navy hydrographer that her wreck is not the one shown on Admiralty charts at 51°44'15?N, 8°10'00?W, a long way to the north and east, and, in fact, that the wreck was never notified to his de​part​ment.  The Lights Commissioners say no wreck buoy ever marked her position, but the British Navy appears to have kept a marker buoy over the spot till it was swept away by bad weather early in 1920.

At all events, Spindler’s claim that his ship’s hulk blocked or partially blocked the entrance to Cork Harbour must be dismissed.  Indeed, he contradicts his own claim when he notes (page 136) that she lies long buried in sand “too deep to be salved” –this last assertion may perhaps even yet be disproved, however, as the resources of the marine archaeologists grow more formidable and enable work to be carried out with ease and comparative cheapness at about 120 feet depth, where the wreck probably still is.

Further evidence that Spindler’s testimony is not always reliable is to be found in his declaration that from where he sank his ship he could see the British warships along the quays at Cobh (or Haulbowline
) “only fifteen minutes away”.  Those quays cannot be seen from the spot where the Libau was scuttled.  The Daunt is 4½ miles from Roche’s Point
, twenty-five minutes steaming at 11 knots, and Roche’s Point in the conditions of the time would have been quite another half-hour’s steaming from any quay.  The fascinating pictures painted many years after the event by Karl Spind​ler and now in the possession of Herr Schmitz of Arnoldsweiler
, S.M.S. Libau’s signal​man, who kindly allowed the Maritime Institute to make copies, are more a vindicat​ion of the claims in his book than accurate reproductions of the events.

The newly released British Admiralty documents show that after his explosive charges blew the bottom out of his ship (which sank at 9.40 a.m.), Spindler was taken prisoner on board the Bluebell along with two other officers and nineteen rat​ings of the Imperial German Navy.  He told Bluebell’s commander that he had sailed from Kiel via Iceland for Buenos Aires, where his ship was to be fitted out as a Ger​man auxiliary cruiser.  He said she had been carrying no guns or munitions, but Hood says some of the crew told him there had been six guns aboard and that there were other ships operating west of Ireland in conjunction with U-boats.  This “inform​ation” must, for a time at least, have caused the British a deal of worry.  Later Spind​ler told Commander Hyde, captain of H.M.S. Adventure, to which he was transferred, that he had had guns and ammunition aboard, that he had had difficulty in estimating his position when approaching the Irish coast, and that he had been four days with​out sleep, and without food since the afternoon of 21st April.

Meanwhile, a landing party from H.M.S. Guillemot (trawler) was trying in vain to get “the natives” on the Hog Islands to say if there had been any contacts between them and the Libau.  There had not in fact been any.

A Haulbowline dockyard report of 28th May 1916 shows that divers found two large holes in the Libau, both on the port side, one in each of the main holds, and stretch​ing almost as far as the keel.  The after explosion damaged the propeller badly and broke the wheel on the poop.  Broken rifles had been blown out of the holes.  In​cident​​ally, Admiral Bayly asserts in his memoirs that these famous Libau rifles had been manufactured at Orleans, France, in 1902 for the Russian Imperial Govern​ment.

Diver Dempsey recovered one of S.M.S. Libau’s ensigns, which Admiral Bayly framed and in 1936 handed over to the Navy of the Third Reich “as a token of friend​ship and respect”.  It is to be feared that this historic relic of Spindler’s arduous voyage must have disappeared during the war of 1939-45.  We cannot trace it.  It was Admiral Bayly who issued a much criticised draconian order after the Rising that any small boat seen between sunset and sunshine within two miles of the Irish coast was to be sunk without warning.  Bayly’s exact title was Admiral Commanding the West​ern Approaches.  He was the first proponent of the idea of the tactical smoke​screen.  A fire-eater, he suggested several highly hazardous schemes for offensive naval action against North Germany, including the unprovoked violation of Danish neutral​ity in order to secure a bridgehead.  He was dismissed from command of the Channel fleet early in the war for having lost the battleship Formidable and 547 men to a U-boat by an act of careless bravado.  The British supreme commander Jellicoe, while rejecting his foolhardy plans, commended his energy.  Captain Wilson found him a martinet but had the greatest respect for him.  Professor Marder finds he was “a most redoubtable autocrat” but says he was “humanised at Queenstown”.  The contemptu​ously patronising references to our people in his memoirs lead one to doubt this verdict.

Spindler failed, perhaps for the ultimate good of the cause he was trying to help.  His account contains statements that will not stand up to examination and which have been uncritically repeated for too long.  Nevertheless, his voyage was a fascinating odyssey, accomplished with a considerable measure of courage and skill, and it has, and always will have, both great interest and profound lessons for the Irish people.

Chapter III

VOYAGE OF U-19


Durch Widerwärtigkeit im Meer



Ward er geworfen hin und her.



Noch blieb er standhaft allezeit



In Not und Tod, in Lieb und Leid.











Opitz

It is not the purpose of this study to examine why Roger Casement came back in April 1916, or what he had had in his mind.  It is, however, interesting that Captain Weisbach of U-19 did not get the impression that he had any idea of “calling off” the projected Rising, but did come to the conclusion that he was very pessimistic about its chances.  He developed a great admiration for Casement, and has a vivid memory of him and his companions producing a large Irish flag and singing Irish national songs, and of Casement appearing two days before being landed on the Kerry Coast without his beard, to lessen chances of recognition ashore.  These points are made because, particularly as a result of Spindler’s version of events, Weis​bach has usually been given a very poor position in the accepted hierarchy of Irish and foreign participants in the Easter Rising.  Casement certainly wrote in a kindly way of Walter, U-19’s second in command, and both he and his skipper took and preserved photos of their distinguished passenger in their ship.  However, Mon​teith and possibly also Casement came in the last hours on board to distrust and dislike the whole German connection.  They realised how little the German Govern​ment was really interested.  Weisbach must have incarnated German officialdom in their eyes, and when he refused to allow the dinghy that put them ashore to be equip​ped with its motor, in case the sound gave his U-boat’s position away, the tide of misunderstanding must have overflowed.  Yet what could Weisbach have done?  If, as was only too likely, the sound of the motor had attracted British attention, U-19, a valuable ace in Germany’s war hand, would almost certainly have been lost with her 39 trained submariners, and the Irish cause would not have been one whit ad​vanced.

The human side of the voyage, for the rest, is well depicted by Monteith, though it must be stressed again that U-19 did not see, and could not at any time have seen, the Libau.  The maritime facts of the voyage are, with one small exception, all that remains to be discussed.  The exception: Beverly’s evidence at Casement’s trial states that he heard discussions on board U-19 that led him to believe that the Libau was not expected before 23rd or 24th April.  It is not known how much credence need be attached to his evidence, but is it possible somebody on board knew the rebel leaders had changed the date?  Monteith, perhaps? – he does not say so.  Any​way, Weisbach acted as he was instructed to act, on the assumption that Spind​ler had already arrived on 20th April, even if the arms discharge itself was to be delayed.

Casement, Beverly and Monteith embarked in U-20 at Wilhelmshaven
 on the 12th April.  This was the ship that had sunk R.M.S. Lusitania off the Old Head of Kinsale just a year before, and she had the same commander, Schwieger.
  A day and a half out, the crank actuating the diving fins broke, and U-20 returned to Heligoland
.  Our people said goodbye to Schwieger and re-embarked in U-19.

Monteith gives the impression that U-19 and U-20 were very different; there may well have been internal differences; the photo of both in the Maritime Institute’s possess​ion shows that outwardly they did not exactly resemble one another
.  Both, in fact, belonged to the same class, being of 650 tons, with one gun, four torpedo tubes, and a surface range of 5200 miles, 80 miles submerged.  U-19 was a pioneer vessel, in that she was the first German submarine to be equipped with a diesel engine.  U-1 to U-18 had heavy oil engines
 for surface work.  On 24th October 1914 she had been accidentally run down by the British destroyer Badger, but by skilful seamanship was brought next day to Zeebrugge for repairs.  The use of this port as a U-boat base, a constant irritant to the British throughout the war, dates from this episode.

U-19 sailed on 15th April.  Weisbach received verbal orders to be one mile north-west of the Seven Hogs at midnight on the 20th April.  U-19 made the voyage round the north of Shetland, meeting heavy weather in the early stages.  Her log for the 17th April shows her running before severe high seas, piled up by a storm-force southerly wind (force 10) and receiving quite serious damage.  No wonder Monteith writes of Casement suffering from sea-sickness.  Almost all of her run was made on the surface, with short test dives on the 16th and 18th April.  The submarine’s log for the 19th April, when St Kilda
 was eighteen miles on the port beam at 6.30 p.m., shows Weisbach relying on Casement’s knowledge of the disposition of the British coast​guard stations in Ireland when deciding whether or not to close our coast in day​light.

At 3 p.m. on the 20th April, U-19 had Achill Head thirty miles on her port beam.  Her actions can be checked from a copy of her log in the hands of the Maritime In​stit​ute.
  She was sailing at 13 knots, course 180° (due south).  At 6.40 p.m. she altered course to 144° (south of SE) for Tralee Bay.  A master mariner who is a recognised specialist in chart work checked for us her position at 6.40 p.m., 47.7 miles south of her 3 p.m. position, and made it 53°12'N, 11°04' W.  From 6.40 p.m. to 10.30 p.m. U-19 kept to course 144° at 13 knots and then, to ensure silence, switched to her electric motors which drove her on the surface at 4½ knots.  Allowing for the current and tide
 that prevailed on the 20th April, our expert calculated that U-19 should have had Loop Head 11¼ miles on her port beam at 10.30 p.m. and should have reached her rendezvous position a mile NW of Inishtooskert at 12.12 a.m. on 21st April.  Her log shows her, in fact, abeam of Loop Head at 10.30 (no distance given) and hove to at the point of rendezvous at 12.10 a.m. (times here given are Central European Time, one hour ahead of GMT).  There is no doubt that Raimund Weis​bach con​formed to the very highest standards of professional skill.

The weather had been squally but by 12.10 was clear.  The outline of Tralee and Ballyheige Bays were visible and the harbour lights of what U-19’s log calls “Sh” (no doubt Little Samphire outside Fenit
).  No pilot boat and above all no gun-runner appearing, Weisbach had to think of getting our men ashore and his vessel back to her main task, the war on Allied shipping.  He went in under Kerry Head and steered east to where Ballyheige Bay begins to shoal.  He was able clearly to see the rocks and shallows on the bay’s south side.  The water was smooth as a mirror.  The ac​count of the event by Walter, Weisbach’s No. 2, held by the Department of External Affairs, which is more detailed, speaks of U-19 being extremely close in and of an ap​pearance of St Elmo’s fire on rocks very close alongside.
  Monteith says it was hazy, in disagreement with the log and Korvetten-Kapitän
 Walter.  The log shows that U-19 was turned westwards, with her bows pointing seaward, just before 2.15 a.m. on the 21st April.  The dinghy was put in the water after a last exchange of hand​shakes.  Walter declares that he rowed the Irishmen ashore.  Neither U-19’s log nor Monteith substantiate this.  The dingy itself is probably in the Imperial War Museum, London.  It is unlikely that it is the rather similar one identified by Monteith
 at Haulbowline.
  U-19’s log, contradicting Walter’s claim, says the dinghy was put to sea two miles from the shore and that she could have been expected to reach it at about 3 a.m.

A visit to these waters with U-19’s log suggests that the exact spot must have been a couple of hundred yards NNW of Barnagh Rock.  Monteith gives no time for the arrival on the beach but it was probably well after 3 a.m. (2 a.m. G.M.T.) if his de​script​ion of the event is accurate.  Even with an easterly wind, as on the day when I went out myself, or north-easterly, as when U-19 was in Ballyheige Bay, there is a long swell in from the Atlantic which would clearly account for the dinghy’s mishaps as it came near the shore.

One can only surmise what would have happened if the Libau had kept her rendez​vous with U-19.  The presence of Casement, and especially Monteith, might have led to some positive action being taken on the morning of the 21st April to get some of the arms ashore.  Otherwise, it would simply have meant the postponement by one day of Casement’s capture, and the inevitable capture and probable execution also of Monteith.

U-19 went out of Ballyheige Bay on course 300°, changed later to 270° (due west) and later to 200°.  Weisbach intended to carry on three days’ commerce war.  When he next gives a position, it is that of the black cargo ship
 he sank at 51°08'N, 11°27'W at 4.50 p.m. after diving at 3.55 p.m. on the 21st April.  However, he gives his courses and his surface speed and from these it is clear he must have spent at least a period from 2.20 a.m. to 4 a.m. (CET), possibly longer, outside Ballyheige Bay – as he says in his letter of the 28th January 1966 – without doubt still searching for Spindler.  Spindler’s statement that U-19 saw the Libau and mistook her for a British destroyer cannot be substantiated in any way.  The statement is not in all versions of his book.

U-19’s voyage was an affair of high professional competence.  It might indeed have been far happier for Casement if he had not got ashore.  But that events took the course they did for him is the result of Raimund Weisbach’s meticulous fulfilment of an unexpected duty that must have presented problems far greater than the bare words of a fifty-year-old log or the concise, clear, and seamanlike words of letters fifty years later can show – problems not only naval, navigational, administrative but also psychological, given the strange and unexpected situation in which the Irishmen and the submariners were brought together, Casement’s seasickness, Beverly’s frailness, Monteith’s injury (sustained practising manoeuvring the dinghy at Heligo​land) and the confined space available for the submarine’s mysterious last-minute guests.

U-19 did not receive any radio message from home, announcing the betrayal of the Libau’s voyage.  She returned to base on receipt of the general recall of 24th April, the day Weisbach intended anyway to close his own campaign.

Chapter VI

CONCLUSION
In the darkness of change on the waters of time 
they shall turn from afar,

To the beam of this dawn for a beacon, 
the light of these pyres for a star.

They shall see thee who love, and take comfort, 
who hate thee shall see and take warning,

Our mother that makest us free;

And the sons of thine earth shall have help 
of the waves that made war on their morning,

And friendship and fame of the sea.









Swinburne

From a consideration of the events described, some conclusions may be drawn.

The actions of the German naval authorities to assist the insurgents were taken with​in a preconceived strategic framework which allowed little importance to Irish national aspiration.  Individual German seamen became increasingly interested and sym​pathetic, until, in the case particularly of the crew of the U-19, who seem to have suc​cumbed to the spell of Casement’s personality, they reached a considerable under​standing of the aims of the insurrectionary movement.

The German naval authorities cannot wholly be acquitted of blame for the failure of the Libau to land her arms.  They refused to equip the Libau with radio, and some may also argue that the seaman they put in command of her was not tempera​ment​ally the best choice.  However, the major portion of the blame for the failure must be placed here.

The Rising could hardly have taken place at all but for the landing of a cargo of arms at Howth at the beginning of August 1914 from the yacht Asgard sailed by Erskine Childers from the Continent.  Militarily, the Rising would have been a far more formid​able affair if the arms had been got ashore at Fenit.

The chances of landing the arms at Fenit would have been very much greater if those involved in the insurrection from the ranks to the leaders had not, like virtually the whole Irish nation, been brought up in an atmosphere of ignorance of maritime affairs and of the importance to Ireland of a maritime tradition.  A little knowledge of the hazards of sea voyaging, particularly in wartime and in the far northern waters of the Atlantic, would have convinced our leaders that it is not feasible to restrict the ar​rival of a ship at a certain point to too short a period.  It would also have shown to them the folly of making a last-minute change at their end in the expected time of ar​rival.  Having changed the time at this end, it would have led them to take pre​caut​ions in case (as of course happened) the ship they were expecting had not received news of their change of plans.  Even if the ship had been equipped with a radio, it might not have received the message, or the radio might have broken down.  As the Libau was not equipped with radio, there was nothing the German authorities could do, and the ship, in fact, arrived punctually to the original plan on the 20th April.  She was seen by the pilot
 appointed to bring her in to discharge at Fenit, but he had been told she was coming in on 23rd April and so he did not contact her.  According to A. Cotton, I.R.B. organiser in Tralee, quoted in Kerry’s Fighting Story, there had actually been discussion among local leaders in Kerry about the uncertainty of the venture in view of the possibilities of storm or fog.

Meanwhile, a German naval intervention, quite unexpected by the insurgents’ lead​ers, was being prepared.  Casement, who seems to have felt that without the landing of more arms than the Germans were ready to send and without trained officers a Rising was of uncertain value, was informed on the 7th April that his desire to be brought to Ireland to contact the leaders would be met.  An account of his voy​age in U-19 and the failure of the Libau to rendezvous with her have been given in Chapter III.

The British Navy retained effective control of the waters around Ireland unhindered by any Irish effort whatever, save the gallant individual refusal of Irish seamen in H.M.S. Helga to participate in her bombardment of insurgent positions in Dublin.  That control by the British Navy was effective but not complete, since U-19 came safely to Tralee Bay and got safely away again and sank a cargo ship not far from our coast later the same day, no doubt helped by the fact that the Libau had diverted the attention of a number of British warships.

The lesson that we should control and profitably use our own waters has been learned somewhat slowly by our people.  The twelfth hour was striking when, in 1939, our Government decided to establish a marine service to protect our neutrality in the Second World War.  Without that slender force, undoubtedly, we would have been drawn into the struggle.  At the very last moment it was seen that, without our own cargo ships, not only was our economy strangled but our existence was at stake.  Irish Shipping Limited was founded, and some recognition was gradually given to the services being performed for the nation by the ships and seamen of Dublin, Arklow, Limerick, Wexford and elsewhere.

Now we have also cross-Channel passenger ships, a slowly growing fishing industry, a splendid meteorological service, sea-rescue organisations, and up-to-date port in​stall​ations.  Young people are beginning to understand that an island people’s future must be on the sea.  A study of the naval events of April 1916 in our waters can only reinforce that understanding.

APPENDIX A

DIARY

April   9
Libau (‘Aud’) leaves Lübeck, Baltic, for Warnemünde.

April 10
Libau sails from Warnemünde, leaves German waters, enters Sound.

April 11
Libau in Skagerrak.

April 12
Libau in North Sea.  Casement embarks in U20.

April 13
Libau off Bremangerland, U20 in North Sea.

April 14
Libau on Arctic Circle at Greenwich meridian, U20 returning to Heligoland.
News of changed date for arms landing reaches Irish in U.S.A. for trans​mission to Germany.  U19 at Emden.

April 15
Libau heaves to, then course SW.
Casement disembarks from U20 at Heligoland and joins U19 which had sailed early in the morning from Emden.

April 16
Libau between Iceland and Faeroe, U19 in North Sea.
Libau’s encounter with H.M.S. Orcoma.

April 17
Libau off Rockall, 
U19 between Shetland and Norway in storm-force following wind.

April 18
Libau’s encounter with another armed liner, 
U19 between Shetland and Faeroe.

April 19
Libau approaching SW Ireland, preparing arms cargo for discharge, 
U19 passes Hebrides (off St Kilda at 6.30 p.m.).

April 20
Libau approaches Tralee Bay from WSW, U19 from N.
Libau apparently at anchor midnight off Castlegregory
.
First German radio call to U-boats to warn Libau plan betrayed.

April 21
U19 reaches rendezvous with Libau 12.10 a.m. (CET – 11.10 p.m. on 20th by GMT), dispatches Casement ashore in dinghy 2.15, searches 
for Libau outside Tralee Bay till after 4 a.m., sails south-west to attack shipping, torpedoes black cargo ship S.S. Feliciana 4.50 p.m.


Libau’s encounter with Setter in morning; weighs anchor early afternoon to escape Lord Heneage, rounded up by H.M.S. Bluebell and Zinnia, 51°33'N, 11°01'W.


The real Aud in Huelva, Spain.

April 22
9.28 a.m.  Libau scuttled 7 cables (1400 yds) S 56° E of Daunt Rock L.V.

April 23
Six submarines leave Zeebrugge to operate against East Anglian coast.

April 24
General U-boat war against merchant shipping temporarily suspended.
5 submarines sail to operate off East Anglia, German High Seas Fleet leaves North Sea bases; British Grand Fleet leaves Scottish bases.


Gale in St George’s Channel drives into port armed drifters maintaining net barrage to prevent entry of U-boats to Irish Sea.
Rising in Dublin.

April 25
German battle cruisers bombard Lowestoft.  Indecisive North Sea naval clash; British and German fleets turn back to bases.  German submarines active for rest of week off East Anglia.  H.M.S. Helga fires two rounds at Boland’s Mill, 2.15 p.m.  Anchored off Pigeon House Fort 11.45 p.m.


Real Aud sails from Huelva for Rochefort.

April 26–
Rising continued in Ireland, suppressed with help of H.M.S. Helga 
and British naval control of all waters round Ireland.  
H.M. cruiser Adventure, sent from Haulbowline, at Dún Laoghaire.

April 26
H.M. sloop Laburnum in action against Republicans in Galway Bay 
(nine rounds fired from after gun).
Battleship H.M.S. Albion ordered from Plymouth to Haulbowline.

April 27
H.M. cruiser Gloucester at Galway.  H.M. sloop Snowdrop leaves Haul​bowline for Galway with 100 marines as landing party.
Destroyers Ossory, Onslow, Nicator (detached from Grand Fleet’s Scottish bases), Dee and Dove (Liverpool-based) escorting troops from Liverpool to Dún Laoghaire.

NOTE.
Admiral Bayly says it was the Snowdrop that was in action in Galway Bay.
He was writing without notes many years later.  The Zinnia log, written at the time, reports reception from the Laburnum of a message that she shelled “the enemy” along the Tuam road.  Extracts from H.M.S. Snow​drop’s log shows she was minesweeping on April 27-29.  There are no entries for April 25-26.
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The Ministry of Defence, Naval Library, London, 8.7.65, 17.7.65, 1.3.66.

The Admiralty, London, 10.3.61.

The Commissioners of Irish Lights, 11.10, 15.11, and 24.11.65.

Captain J. Scanlon, 13.11.65.

The Meteorological Office of Great Britain 26.8., 19.11., 6.12.65 and 7.3.66.

Kapitän zur See Raimund Weisbach, 13.10.65, 10.12.65, 20.1.66, 28.1.66, 3.3.66, 11.3.66, and 23.3.66.

Herr Fred Schmitz (signalman of Libau), 22.2.66, 3.3.66, and 22.3.66.

Dunfermline Sea Breezes reader, 12.10.65.
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The Royal Norwegian Embassy, London, 10.7. and 8, 10, 23 and 27.9.65, 28.2.66.

Lloyd’s, 30.11.65, 15.12.65, 23.2.66, 17.3.66.

The EIlerman Wilson Line, 26.7. and 28.10.65.
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Florence O’Donoghue, 10.12.65 and 31.3.66.

Mr P. O’Keeffe, Bantry, for Mr Ricky Collins of Crookhaven, undated, received 2.3.66.

Captain G.F. Wilson, D.S.O., former commander of H.M.S. Zinnia, 18.2.66.

Documents in hands of Maritime Institute:

Photocopies of log of U19 for 14-21.4.16; copy of log for 19.4.16; profile and surveyor’s report on construction of S.S. Castro (later S.M.S. Libau, pseudo Aud).

Photocopy of builder’s plans of S.S. Aud of Bergen.

Naval architect’s impression of plan of Castro reconstructed as Aud.

Waterline silhouette of Castro as S.M.S. Libau, sketch by Lieutenant Finch of H.M.S. Bluebell after her capture.

Photos of
S.S. Castro.


U19 and U20.


H.M.S. Helga in Dún Laoghaire, 1916.


Roger Casement, Capt. Monteith, Capt. Weisbach, Lt. Walter 
on board U19.


Captains Weisbach and Spindler.


Signalman Fred Schmitz of S.M.S. Libau.


H.M.S. Laburnum and other British ships involved in crushing the Rising.

Statement given on 5.1.66 by Korvetten-Kapitän Walter to Irish Consul in Hamburg (original at Department of External Affairs).

Extracts from logs of H.M.S. Helga, Laburnum, Snowdrop, Gloucester, Zinnia, Bluebell, Otway, Orcoma, Adventure.

Official list of shots fired by H.M.S. Helga during 1916 Rising.

Copy of extract from Naval Staff Monographs (Britain), Vol. XV, Home Waters, Part Vl.

Captain’s log of H.M.S. Zinnia, 12.4. to 21.10.1916.

Copies of confidential report from Base Officer (at Fenit) and reports to and by Admiral Bayly at Haulbowline, and other documents from Irish Coastal Command papers in P.R.O. London.

Copy of letter of 25.12.1935 from Karl Spindler to Fred Schmitz.

Copies of two paintings and a pastel drawing by Karl Spindler.

Books:

Irish Coast Pilot 1954.

Laurie’s Coastal Shipping Guide (title effaced) 1890.

M. Caulfield: The Easter Rebellion.

D. Figgis: The Freedom of the Seas.

R.M. Grant: U-Boats destroyed.

H.C. Hoy: 40 O.B., or how the War was won.

Irish Times: Sinn Féin Rebellion Handbook.

The Kerryman: Kerry’s Fighting Story.

G. Knott: Trial of Roger Casement.

D. Lynch: The I.R.B. and the 1916 Insurrection.

F. Monteith Lynch: The Mystery Man of Banna Strand.

L.N. Le Roux: La Vie de Patrice Pearse. *

H.O. Mackey: The Crime against Humanity. *

D. Macardle: The Irish Republic.

A.J. Marder: From the Dreadnought to Scapa Flow.

R. Monteith: Casement’s Last Adventure.

J. Smellie: Shipbuilding and Repairing in Dublin.

Admiral Sir Lewis Bayly: Pull Together.

*
These books are particularly interesting as they contain specific references to Casement’s views on the freedom of the seas and on the need, in his view, of German naval help for an Irish rising.

APPENDIX C

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
I wish to acknowledge with deep thanks help received from:-

Members of the Council of the Maritime Institute.

Mr J.P. Wolahan, Hon. Assistant Research Officer, Maritime Institute.

Mr D. Branigan, who gave us the naval architect’s impression plan of Castro reconstructed as Aud and the photocopy of the Castro survey.

Officials of the Department of External Affairs.

Colonel Dan Bryan, former Director of Military Intelligence, Ireland.

Mr J. Kuhnle of Bergen, owner of the real Aud.

All those in Ireland, Germany and Britain who wrote at such length with such detail and patience the letters listed in Appendix B in answer to my persistent queries.

My wife, who did the maps
.

The editors of The Mariner’s Mirror and Sea Breezes.

The coxwain and crew of Fenit lifeboat.

Mr G.R. Walton, Irish District Inspector of Lifeboats, holder of London record for chart work in Master Mariner’s Certificate of Competency Examination.

APPENDIX E

I.  Career of Kapitän zur See Raimund Weisbach of submarine U19

Born 18.9.1886.

1914
Entered Imperial German Navy as Cadet.

1914
Outbreak of Great War: drafted as Oberleutnant zur See to submarines.  Became watch officer of submarine U20 under Kapitänleutnant Schwieger with whom he made a number of voyages in 1914 and 1915.

1915
October: became commander of U19.

1916
After a number of successful voyages, called to Heligoland on 15th April for special service.  April 21st: puts Casement, Monteith and Beverly safely ashore in Ballyheige Bay.

1917
May 1: After several successful commerce-raiding voyages, torpedoed by E.54 (Raikes) 100 miles W of Fastnet and made prisoner of war.

1917
May to end of Great War: prisoner of war in Britain.

1919-30
Under German Republic, engaged in reconstruction of German Navy.

1930-35
Head of Turkish Marine Academy, Istanbul.

1939
Appointed naval liaison officer with German 10th Army Corps.

1945
Retired from Navy on pension.

II.  Note on the subsequent career of Karl Spindler

Captain Spindler made a dramatic escape from a British prisoner-of-war camp to which he was taken from Ireland after his scuttling of the Libau.  He had ideas about capturing an aeroplane from a British airfield and flying it to the Continent, but he was recaptured.

He wrote his book Das Geheimnisvolle Schiff in Germany at the height of the post-war Anglo-Irish struggle.  He was convinced that he had narrowly missed changing world history through the miscarriage of the arms landing, which he believed would have transformed the Easter Rising into a successful insurrection and led to a Ger​man victory over the Allies.

He was given a triumphal reception in 1931 in New York by the Irish-Americans.

He was back in New York at Christmas 1935, and was in the United States when that country entered the Second World War, and was arrested and detained by the U.S.  authorities.

After the Second World War he returned to Germany, where he died some years ago.

A German resident in Ireland who, as a boy, met him in Berlin in 1932 recalls him as a formidable raconteur.

APPENDIX F

THE REAL S.S. AUD
The real S.S. Aud, to resemble which S.M.S. Libau (ex-S.S. Castro) was so carefully disguised, was an 1102-ton steamer built in 1907 by the Bergens McKaniske Værk​stad, owned by Mr J. Kuhnle junior, who, like Captain Weisbach, Captain Wilson, Korvetten-Kapitän Walter, Fred Schmitz, Mort O’Leary, and an unexpectedly large number of participants in or witnesses of the events described in this booklet, is happily still alive.  The real Aud was captained by Andreas Steen.  As she was at Huelva, SW Spain, on 21.4.1916, she was not the ship very like his Libau which Spind​ler saw off the Kerry coast that afternoon.  The real Aud ’s call letters were M.D.P.C. (the Castro’s had been H.C.J.L.).

The real Aud was sunk on 30 November 1916 in the Bristol Channel between Pen​deen and Trevose Head (not on October 2nd, as Spindler wrote in his book).  She was a victim of submarine UB18, commanded by Oberleutnant zur See Lafrenz.  She was carrying 1213 tons of coal from Cardiff for Lisbon.

Lafrenz was appointed to UC65 in 1917, and on 3 November 1917 suffered the same fate as Raimund Weisbach – UC65 was torpedoed and sunk off Dartmouth, Devon, by the British submarine C15.  The submarine that sank the real Aud, UB18, now captained by Neimeyer, eventually followed her victim to the bottom of the sea.  She was rammed and sunk in the English Channel on 9 December 1917, very early in the morning, by the armed trawler Ben Lawer, escorting a convoy of coal ships.

Extract from log of U19 for 20 and 21 April 1916 (from photocopy of original)

	20.4.16

10 Vm.
	NNO 4, Seeg. 4,

Sicht: zuweilen Regenböen.
	Auf 180° gegangen.  Von 10.15 ab Marschfahrt 13 sm, da ich nach dem Besteck erheblich zurückstehe und ich die Ausführung der Aufgabe bei dem denk​bar günstigsten Wetter keinesfalls um 24 Stunden hinausschieben will.

	1.30 Nm.
	
	An Bb. wird ein großes Motorschiff mit 4 Masten und einem kleinen Schornstein gesichtet, mit gesetzter Handels- und Reedereiflagge, anscheinend Däne.

	3 Nm.
	
	Die irische Küste (Achill Isle) kommt auf 30 sm in Sicht.

	6.40 Nm.
	
	Mit 144° auf die Tralee Bucht zugehalten.

	10.30 Nm.
	
	Loop Head Lchtf. kommt Bb. voraus in Sicht, bald darauf sieht man auch die hohen Berge südlich der Brandon-Bay auftauchen.  Die Nacht ist sehr dunkel und zeitweise wird noch durch Regenböen jede Sichtigkeit genommen.  Ich gehe daher etwa 5 sm vor der Bucht auf E-Maschinen über; Personal auf Tauchstationen.  Ich beabsichtige zunächst bei dem verabredeten Treffpunkt (eine sm NW von den Seven Hogs) nach dem Lotsenboot zu suchen.

	21.4.16

12.10 Vm.
	Tralee Bucht Stille, Sichtig.: bedeckt mondhell.
	Es klärt auf und Sichtigkeit und Helligkeit nehmen
 mit dem aufgehenden Mond zu, sodass die Umrisse der Bucht und die Felsklippen gut zu sehen sind.  Das Hafenfeuer von Sh. kommt zeitweise in Sicht.  Der Lotse ist nicht zu finden.  Überhaupt keinerlei Fahr​zeug zu sehen.  Es kommt nur noch das Landen mit Dingi in Frage.  Ich gehe daher unter das hohe Land von Kerry Head, an der Nordseite der Bucht, und dann mit Ostkurs bis an die Grenze der Tauch​tiefe in die Ballyheige Bucht hinein.  Die Rocks und Untiefen südlich davon sind gut zu erkennen.  Es ist spiegel​glattes Wasser in der Bucht, nur leichte Dünung.  Auf Gegenkurs gegangen, Dingi ausgesetzt und mit allem Erforderlichen ausgerüstet.  Um 2.15 setzt das Dingi mit den 3 Iren ab.  Auf den Dingi​motor wurde wegen des lauten Geräusches und wegen zu schwieriger Handhabung verzichtet.  Die Entfernung von Bord bis an Land betrug etwa 2 sm.  Ich habe die Überzeugung, dass das Dingi gegen 3 Uhr un​gefährdet an Land gekommen ist.


Translation of U19’s log extracts:-

	20.4.16

10 a.m.
	NNE 4, sea motion 4. visibility: at times rain squalls
	Went over to 180° from 10.15 onwards speed 13 knots, as, according to bearings, I am lagging considerably and as I will not under any circum​stances postpone the execution of the task by 24 hours during the conceivably favourable weather.

	1.30 p.m.
	
	On the port side a large motor vessel with four masts and a small funnel sighted, with house flag lowered
, apparently a Dane.

	3 p.m.
	
	The Irish coast (Achill I.) comes into sight 30 miles away.

	6.40 p.m.
	
	Headed for Tralee Bay on 144°.

	10.30 p.m.
	
	Loop Head lighthouse sighted ahead, port side; soon after, high mountains south of Brandon Bay to be seen rising up.  The night is very dark and at times all visibility is obscured by rain squalls.  Approximately 5 sea-miles outside the bay I shall therefore go over to E-motors [i.e. the silent electric engines normally used only when submerged]; crew at diving stations.  I intend first of all to search for the pilot boat at the agreed rendezvous (1 sea-mile NW of the Seven Hogs).

	21.4.16
	Tralee Bay.  Calm.  Visibility: overcast but moonlit
	It is clearing and visibility and light are increasing with the rising moon
, so that the outlines of the bay and the rocks can be clearly seen.  The harbour lights of Sh. [Little Samphire outside Fenit] are visible at times.  The pilot cannot be found.  Not a trace of any vessel to be seen.  The only thing to do is a dinghy landing.  I therefore go round by the high land of Kerry Head on the north side of the bay and then on an eastern course, up to the limit for diving depth, into Ballyheige Bay.

The rocks and shallows south of it can be easily picked out.  Water in bay as smooth as glass, only a slight swell.  Went round to opposite course, lowered dinghy and equipped it with everything necessary.

At 2.15 the dinghy with the three Irishmen pushes off.  The dinghy motor was refused
 on account of loud noise and because too difficult to handle.  As the distance from ship to land was approximately 2 sea-miles, I am satisfied the dinghy reached shore without harm towards 3 o’clock.


�	See Appendix F


�	If we could be certain that the armed liner encountered on April 16 was the Orcoma, we could be as sure as is possible now that she had instructions to let the Libau pass, as only a few hours before she had put a boarding party on board a Danish steamer on a regular run from Iceland to Copen�hagen.  Many of the facts recorded in her log confirm belief that she was the ship.  There are some discrepancies.


*	The Libau was in fact capable of a higher speed when pushed, as she showed on April 21 when trying to dodge British patrol ships.


�	Dr Arenz’s letter of March 23 (confirming a telegram) and Captain Weisbach’s of the same date state definitely that all U-boats used Central European Time.�An entry in the log of H.M.S. Gloucester, sent to Ireland at this juncture, shows some British ships using Dublin time, 25 minutes after G.M.T.


�	This was a Newcastle-built tanker of 6458 tons belonging to Eagle Oil Transport Co. on a voyage from Puerto Mexico to Thames Haven with naphtha.


�	Hoy worked at British naval intelligence headquarters.


�	But it is only fair to note that the German Navy did occasionally slip a ship through the blockade, notably the commerce raiders S.M.S. Möwe, a former British banana ship before the Libau’s voyage, and S.M.S. Seeadler, the captured British windjammer Pass of Balmaha, after.


�	Setter was a trawler of 171 tons, built in Aberdeen in 1899; Lord Heneage, built at Beverley (Yorkshire) in 1909, was of 324 tons.  Both had been taken over by the British Navy and armed.


�	At the entrance to Brandon Bay, where likewise no regular anchorage is indicated in the Coast Pilot, he would have been in water of similar depth.


�	Schwieger was to lose his ship in fog in dramatic circumstances in November 1916 on the Danish coast, and lose his life on the 5th September 1917 when trying to bring out his new command U-88 into the North Sea by the so-called “Yellow Route”.


�	This log was, of course, kept up during the voyage according to the strict rules of accuracy demanded by naval discipline and the original was handed in to the German Admiralty immediately on U-19’s return to base.


�	Asked about this and other unexplained meteorological phenomena observed elsewhere in this period, the British Meteorological Office produced the interesting information that on the 26th, 27th and 29th April, 1916, the Aurora Borealis was clearly seen in various areas of Southern Ireland.


�	A letter of 23.3.66 from Dr Arenz of the German naval historical research service says that it is most unlikely that this boat was, as has often been stated, collapsible.


�	Captain Wilson’s log and a letter from Lloyds make it clear that this was S.S. Feliciana.  Next day H.M.S. Zinnia was sent to look for her wreckage but could find nothing left.  The Feliciana was a 4283-ton London-registered cargo steamer, built in 1909, then on a voyage in ballast from Cardiff to New York.


�	Another pilot previously approached had refused to have anything to do with the plan.





 �	b. 19 Oct. 1911, d. 4 Apr. 2006


 �	thought to mean: whoever has a ship is bound to find a favourable wind eventually


 �	361 million sq.km out of a total of 510 works out at somewhat under 71%.


 �	He spells it Provast!


 �	Except in the appendices and footnotes, the author puts names of ships and titles of books in inverted commas; this transcript adopts a more sensible and less confusing convention.  �In general, considerable improvements have been made to the punctuation, which often disguises the sense and intent.


 �	His punctuation misleadingly implies that it was Czech and Yugoslav sailors who mutinied in the German navy.  The mutiny (which started in October) was part of a general dissatisfaction with the Kaiser and his military leaders.


 �	in 1797 (the Nore was an anchorage off Southend); that mutiny was in protest at appalling conditions in the navy and was not politically motivated.


 �	b. 1863, d. 1928.  He was head of the German High Seas fleet from 1916, chief of staff from 1918.


�	not reproduced here, since it seems hardly relevant to the Roger Casement story


�	Heinrich Heine (1797-1856); from his poem Wir saßen am Fischerhause (1844)


�	equivalent to lieutenant RNVR


�	Warnemünde: 54°11'N, 12°05'E


�	Øresund, between eastern Denmark and southern Sweden


�	The sea was raked by searchlights, but apparently his ship remained unseen.  He then came very close to a Norwegian merchantman that he feared might be a warship (or spy ship) in disguise.


�	Helsingør: 56°02'N, 12°37'E (opposite Hälsingborg)


�	a strange statement, since both Denmark and Sweden are in Scandinavia!


�	He calls it Laesö Island, but ø means island anyway.


�	Göteborg (in English more often called Gothenburg): 57°42'N, 11°57'E;�he probably means midway between Læsø and the Swedish coast.


�	He spells it Skagerrack.


�	Paternoster is the name of a group of about 200 small islands and skerries south of Tjörn; �there was a lighthouse on Hamneskär, 57°53'50"N, 11°28'10"E.


�	Skagen: 57°45'N, 10°37'E


�	Lindesnes: 57°59'N, 7°03'E (he spells it Lindesnaes)


�	Kirkwall: 58°59'N, 2°58'W


�	He spells it Bremanjerland; Bremangerland is an island north of Bergen and south-west of Ålesund, about 61°50'N, 5°E.  The highest mountain (Hornelen) is about 890 m, at the eastern end of the island and probably not easily seen against the considerably higher mountains behind it.


�	He says north-west!


�	i.e. between Iceland and Greenland


�	on the morning of April 18


�	wind force 0: up to ½ knot; smooth sea


�	force 3: gentle breeze, 6½–10½ knots; wave crests begin to break and foam


�	force 4: moderate breeze, 11–15½ knots; white foamy crests to the waves


�	force 5: fresh breeze, 16–20½ knots; medium-long waves with foamy crests


�	force 6: strong breeze, 21–26½ knots; waves 2.5 – 4 m high, much foam


�	He probably means force 7, near or moderate gale, 27–33 knots (sea piling up, flying foam) �or force 8, gale or fresh gale, 33½–40 knots (waves over 7 m high, crests start to break off).


�	He probably means force 9, strong gale, 40½–47½ knots (much spray and flying foam).


�	Rockall: skerries around 57°36'N, 13°42'W


�	force 10: storm or whole gale, 48–55 knots; very high waves, the whole sea white with foam


�	roughly 11 m


�	the north-westernmost of the Seven Hogs (see note � NOTEREF _Ref152921956 �46�) at 52°20'N, 10°03'W; however, there is a much larger island of the same name to the west of the Dingle peninsula, 52°08'N, 10°35'W.


�	Achill Head: 53°59'N, 10°16'W


�	Smerwick: 52°11'N, 10°25'W


�	Ballydavid Head: 52°13'N, 10°22'W


�	Brandon Head: 52°16'N, 10°15'W


�	Kerry Head: 52°24'N, 9°57'W


�	The Three Sisters (An Triúr Deirféar) NW of Smerwick harbour: Binn Hanraí 52°11'55"N, 10°25'50"W, Binn Mheánach 52°12'05"N, 10°25'15"W, Binn Diramada 52°12'25"N, 10°24'35"W, 


�	Loop Head: 52°33'N, 9°57'W


�	The Magharee or Hog Islands, roughly 52°10'N, 10°01'W


�	the rank of naval captain


�	Military History Research Office


�	Fastnet: 51°24'N, 9°35'W


�	Fenit Pier: 52°16'N, 9°52'W


�	Little Samphire Island (lighthouse): 52°16'10"N, 9°52'45"W


�	One would have thought that a ship can drop anchor anywhere in shallow water.


�	Presumably he means Rough Point: 52°19'N, 10°01'W.


�	He probably means Tullaree Point: 52°15'N, 9°59'W


�	Seiner Majestät Schiff


�	A better translation would be in the manner of a romance, meaning an adventure story.


�	Tearaght Island (lighthouse): 52°05'N, 10°40'W


�	Later he calls it a black cargo ship: possibly carrying black cargo = coal.


�	Hilfskreuzer means auxiliary cruiser; i.e. a converted freighter or passenger ship, not necessarily a cross-Channel ferry.


�	Correctly Macardle


�	Great Skellig: 51°46'N, 10°32'W


�	He spells it Fasnet.


�	force 1: light air, 1–2½ knots; sea rippled�force 2: light breeze, 3–6 knots; small waves, crests not yet breaking


�	possibly p. 182; altogether the quoted page numbers appear to be inaccurate.


�	presumably meaning on a bearing 124°; 7 cables = 0.7 nautical mile = 1.3 km


�	Haulbowline Island (Inis Sionnach, the naval base opposite Cobh): 51°50'30"N, 8°18'W


�	Roche’s Point: 51°47'30"N, 8°15'W.  The Daunt is due south of it, if German tide tables are reliable.


�	near Düren, between Aachen and Bonn


�	Martin Opitz (1597-1639)


�	Wilhelmshaven: 53°31'N, 8°08'E.  It is strange that a rail ticket from Berlin to Emden was found in Casement’s pocket when he was arrested.


�	Helgoland in German, 54°11'N, 7°54'E


�	The photo shows that they looked very similar.


�	presumably what are normally called marine diesel engines, running on viscous oil that has to be heated before it can be injected into the cylinders


�	St Kilda: centre 57°49'N, 8°35'W


�	At Fenit pier on 20th: LW 00:00, HW 06:00, LW 12:30, HW 18:30�on 21st: LW 01:00, HW 07:00, LW 13:00, HW 19:00.  Tidal range 4.1 metres.�These times have been rounded to the nearest half hour.  �Smerwick had a tidal range of roughly 3.5 m on the days in question (spring tide).


�	This seems improbable, since he was still NW of Kerry Head.  �It is more likely that Sh. stands for Shannon, and he meant some harbour in the estuary.


�	Lt Cdr.


�	Monteith also denied that it was collapsible.  Lucy McDiarmid found a boat, reputed to be the one, in the museum at Rattoo, Co. Kerry.  The buoyancy compartments recognized by a maritime expert at the Deutsches Museum in Munich may be the tubular petrol tanks mentioned by Monteith.


�	Chapters IV and V are omitted here, as having little relevance.


�	Algernon Charles Swinburne (1837-1909); the lines are from Erectheus (1876)


�	Castlegregory: 52°15'N, 10°01'W (a mile inland)


�	The maps form Appendix D and are not very clear.


�	He transcribes this as nahmen (past tense) which does not seem to fit.


�	gesetzt means hoisted!


�	moonrise 23:45 GMT; however, even at meridian transit (03:15) it was only 11° above the horizon.


�	verzichten means to do/go without, renounce/relinquish/waive (a claim); it does not mean to refuse, though in fact Weisbach did not allow them to have it (see Monteith’s account).
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